IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTHONY JOSEPH HARRIS,

Appellant,

No.: 81430

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, ET AL.,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Aug 05 2021 06:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT STATE OF NEVADA, CLARK COUNTY HONORABLE TREVOR ATKIN DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: A-19-805689-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Joshua M. Halen Nevada Bar No. 13885 Matthew B. Hippler Nevada Bar No. 7015 Holland & Hart LLP 5441 Kietzke Lane, Suite 200 Reno, NV 89511-2094 Telephone: 775.327.3000 Fax: 775.786.6179 jmhalen@hollandhart.com mhippler@hollandhart.com

Attorneys for Appellant Anthony Joseph Harris

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(1), as all Defendants were dismissed via various Orders granting motions to dismiss. The last Defendants were dismissed on July 10, 2020, via the District Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Complaint Pursuant to NRCP 4, with Notice of Entry of Order filed July 14, 2020. (Trial Court Record, Vol. 3, App. 634.) Appellant Anthony Joseph Harris ("Harris") filed his timely Notice of Appeal on June 30, 2020 (Vol. 3, App. 588-591), which was filed and effective on July 14, 2020, under NRAP 4(6). No court dismissed the Notice of Appeal before Notice of Entry of the District Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Complaint Pursuant to NRCP 4.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court of Nevada. This appeal raises matters of first impression involving the United States Constitution and issues of statewide public importance. *See* NRAP 17(11), (12). This appeal raises, in part, the necessary level of personal participation to establish liability for a violation of the U.S. Constitution, raised pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the related issue of qualified immunity related to personal participation, matters that have not been addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court. Additionally, this appeal raises issues of first impression related to NRCP 4.2 and service of a summons and

complaint on public employees, an issue of statewide public importance. Accordingly, this matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the District Court erred in holding that Harris, as a pro se litigant, failed to allege a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim alleging deliberate indifference to his serious medical needs in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, when his Complaint provided specific facts of the medical harm he suffered and put Warden Williams on notice that his inaction contributed his pain and suffering.

2. Whether the District Court erred in dismissing Harris's suit with prejudice based on the omission of facts and denying Harris the right to amend his Complaint to allege facts sufficient to establish that Warden Williams was deliberately indifferent to his serious medical needs.

3. Whether the District Court erred in granting Warden Williams qualified immunity based on its holding that it is not clearly established that responding to an inmate's grievance raising an ongoing medical issue rises to the level of personal participation to state a § 1983 claim, when the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the U.S. District Courts within the circuit have held that such conduct clearly constitutes a violation of the Eighth Amendment.

2

4. Whether the District Court erred in misconstruing and misapplying NRCP 4 and 4.2, while ignoring NRCP 4.2(d)(6)(A), when dismissing Harris's Complaint and not providing him reasonable time to complete dual service of certain defendants after Harris had served the Nevada Attorney General with the summons and Complaint for certain defendants.

5. Even in the absence of NRCP 4.2(d)(6) and its command that Harris be provided additional time to complete service, whether the District Court abused its discretion in denying Harris additional time to complete service when he diligently attempted to complete service and the State Defendants waited six months after Harris's service attempts to raise any issue related to service.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Harris is an inmate in the custody of the NDOC and filed his Complaint pro se in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada. Harris listed several theories in his Complaint, but included one claim for a violation of his Eighth Amendment rights to be free from cruel and unusual punishment under the U.S. Constitution. Harris alleged that he suffered extreme chest pains while at High Desert State Prison ("HDSP"). Harris alleged he made several staff members at HDSP aware of his severe chest pains and that they all failed to take any actions to provide him medical care, establishing their deliberate indifference to his serious medical needs in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

3

Defendants included various Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC") employees, the NDOC itself, current and former members of the Nevada State Board of Prison Commissioners, and the State of Nevada. After Harris served the Complaint on certain Defendants, various Defendants filed motions to dismiss raising technical and procedural arguments. Defendant Brian Williams, warden at HDSP ("Warden Williams"), moved to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), arguing that Harris failed to allege his personal participation necessary for a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim, and that he was entitled to qualified immunity for the same reasons. Numerous Defendants also moved for dismissal arguing that while Harris had served the Nevada Attorney General with the summons and Complaint, Harris had failed to serve the Defendants personally or through a designated agent, thus failing to comply with the dual service requirements of NRCP 4.2(d)(2) for suing State employees within 120-days of the filing of the Complaint.

The District Court granted Warden Williams's Motion to Dismiss with prejudice, finding that Harris had failed to allege specific facts regarding personal participation, while also granting him qualified immunity on the same basis. The District Court also granted the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, finding that Harris, as a pro se litigant, failed to comply with the dual service requirements of NRCP 4.2(d)(2) within 120-days, and that despite his service of the Nevada Attorney General, Harris was not entitled to an extension to complete service. As will be demonstrated, the District Court committed several legal errors and abused its discretion in granting the motions to dismiss.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Factual background

1. Harris's extreme chest pains are ignored by HDSP staff.

Harris is an inmate in the custody of the NDOC, and was located at HDSP in 2018 and 2019. (Vol. 1, App. 6, 14, 16.) Harris was "forced to suffer extreme chest pains by the defendants' complete refusal to properly treat his serious medical issue, which could have resulted in either : (1) a stroke; (2) a heart attack; or (3) death of the Plaintiff." (Vol. 1, App. 18.)¹

During the last week of December 2018, Harris alerted a pill call nurse, Defendant Jane Doe 1, at HDSP that he was having extreme chest pains. (Vol. 1, App. 18.) Jane Doe 1 told Harris to fill out a "kite" to request medical attention, but did nothing else. (Vol. 1, App. 18.) On January 6, 2019, Harris was again suffering from extreme chest pains and notified Jane Doe 1 of the issue, and again

¹ As the Court is aware, when reviewing an order granting a motion to dismiss brought pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), the Court "presum[es] all alleged facts in the complaint to be true and draw[s] all inferences in favor of the plaintiff." *Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA*, 133 Nev. 497, 498, 401 P.3d 1068, 170 (2017) (citing *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008)).

Jane Doe 1 told Harris to fill out a kite and offered no other assistance. (Vol. 1, App. 19.)

On March 27, 2019, Harris "suffered such extreme chest pains, that they actually brought him to his knees, and in front of a different pill call nurse, James Tolman." (Vol. 1, App. 19.) Defendant Tolman told Harris to drink water and stay off his feet, but offered no other medical services. (Vol. 1, App. 19.)

On the same day, March 27, 2019, Harris initiated the NDOC inmate grievance process by filing an informal level grievance. (Vol. 1, App. 19.)

The NDOC grievance process is governed by NDOC Administrative Regulation 740 ("AR 740"). AR 740 at *passim*.² The inmate grievance process is used as the administrative process that NDOC inmates utilize to address claims related to prison conditions, property damage, personal injuries, and civil rights claims related to prison life. AR 740 at 1. In order to utilize the grievance process, an inmate files an informal level grievance, and then if he or she is dissatisfied with the response, may appeal the informal response by filing a first level

² AR 740 is available at

https://doc.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/docnvgov/content/About/Administrative_Regulat ions/AR%20740%20-%20Inmate%20Grievance%20Procedure%20-%20Temporary%20-%2011.20.2018.pdf.

Harris requests that the Court take judicial notice of AR 740, pursuant to NRS 47.140(6). AR 740 is a regulation that was adopted by the NDOC pursuant to NRS 209.131(6) and NRS 209.243.

grievance, and then may appeal that response via a second level grievance, with each level of the grievance being reviewed by a more senior NDOC official. AR 740.08-.10. For example, an informal level grievance is reviewed by "the Department Supervisor that has responsibility over the issues that is being grieved or designated person." AR 740.08. "A First Level Grievance (Form DOC-3093) should be reviewed, investigated and responded to by the Warden at the institution where the incident being grieved occurred, even if the Warden is the subject of the grievance." AR 740.09(1). Further, the warden may utilize staff in developing a response to the first level grievance. AR 740.09(1)(A). Finally, the second level grievance is reviewed and responded to by a deputy director of the NDOC or medical director for health issues. AR 740.10.

2. *Harris's grievances are denied, and he receives delayed medical attention for his extreme chest pains.*

Harris's informal level grievance was assigned number 20063081051. (Vol. 1, App. 19.) On June 6, 2019, Harris received the denial of his informal level grievance, which was denied by Defendant N. Peret. (Vol. 1, App. 20.) On June 7, 2019, Harris filed his first level grievance. (Vol. 1, App. 20.) According to AR 740.09(1), the warden at HDSP, Warden Williams, was required to review, investigate, and respond to Harris's first level grievance. Warden Williams was permitted to utilize a staff member to develop the response, but AR 740.09(1) requires the Warden to investigate and respond to the first level grievance. AR

740(1), (1)(A). On July 2, 2019, Harris received the denial of the first level grievance that was signed by Defendant Bob Foulkner. (Vol. 1, App. 20.)

While Harris's first level grievance was pending, he was taken to Nevada Heart and Vascular Center on June 14, 2019, only to be told that his appointment was actually for June 12, 2019. (Vol. 1, App. 20.) Harris was taken to a cardiologist on July 23, 2019, and was told to return in 30 days. (Vol. 1, App. 20.) Forty-eight days later, Harris was taken to a cardiologist on October 4, 2019. (Vol. 1, App. 21.) Accordingly, while Harris's first level grievance was pending, he had not seen a cardiologist or any other medical professional for his extreme chest pains that he had been suffering for close to seven months. (Vol. 1, App. 18-20.)

After Harris's first level grievance was denied, he filed his second level grievance on July 2, 2019, and that grievance was denied on September 10, 2019. (Vol. 1, App. 20-21.) During the time Harris did not receive medical attention, he continued to suffer chest pains and was forced to remain immobilized in his bed, waiting for medical attention. (Vol. 1, App. 23.)

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1. Harris filed his Complaint to vindicate violations of his civil rights and asserting various other claims and attempts service on Defendants.

On November 4, 2019, Harris filed his Complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada asserting various claims for the lack of medical attention he received from HDSP staff. (Vol. 1, App. 6-26.) Harris asserted that his Complaint was a "Civil Rights/Tort Complaint." (Vol. 1, App. 16.) Harris's Complaint lists the following claims: "Nev. Const. Art. 6 § 6; NRS Chapters 14. 30, 33. 41, and 42; U.S. Const. 1st, 8th, and 14th Amendments to U.S. Constitution; Civil Rights Act's [*sic*] of 1871 and 1991; 42 U.S.C. § 1985; 42 U.S.C. 1986; 42 USC § 1997; Americans with Disabilities act; the Rehabilitation Act; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights; 42 U.S.C. § 1320d et. seq.; and the Convention Against Torture and other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment and/or Punishment." (Vol. 1, App. 6, 14.)

Harris brought claims against a total of 22 individual defendants and three entities, the State of Nevada, Board of Prison Commissioners, and the NDOC. (Vol. 1, App. 6-7.) Harris brought claims against current and former members of the Nevada Board of Prison Commissioners who were in office when he started to suffer extreme chest pains, including Governor Steve Sisolak and former Governor Brian Sandoval, Attorney General Aaron Ford and former Attorney General Adam Laxalt, and Secretary of State Barbra Cegavske (collectively "Commissioner Defendants").³ (Vol. 1, App. 7, 8-13.) Harris sued the following NDOC

³ Pursuant to the Nevada Constitution, Article 5, § 21, the Governor of Nevada, Secretary of State of Nevada, and Attorney General of Nevada "shall constitute a Board of State Prison Commissioners, which Board shall have such supervision of all matters connected with the State Prison as may be provided by law."

employees: James Dzurenda,⁴ Romero Aranas, Michael Miner, Jeremy Dean, Julie Matousek, Mr. Faliszek, Mrs. Ennis, Naphcare, Inc.,⁵ Bob Faulkner, N Peret, G. Worthy, G. Martin, G. Bryan, Jane Doe 1, and John Doe 1 (later identified as James Tolman). (Vol. 1, App. 7.) Finally, Harris sued Warden Williams. (Vol. 1, App. 7, 10.)

On December 13, 2019, Harris arranged to have the Carson City Sheriff serve the Commissioner Defendants by delivering a copy of the summons and Complaint to Brandon Salvers, an authorized individual at the Nevada Attorney General's Office in Carson City, Nevada. (Vol. 1, App. 199-204.) On the same day, the Carson City Sheriff, on behalf of Harris, served the following Defendants by delivering a copy of the summons and Complaint to Brandon Salvers, an authorized individual at the Nevada Attorney General's Office in Carson City, Nevada: Defendants Michael Miner, Romeo Aranas, Jeremy Dean, Julie Matousek, Mr. Faliszek, Mrs. Ennis, Naphcare, Inc., Bob Faulkauer, N Peret, G. Worthy, G. Martin, G. Bryan, Jane Doe 1, and James Tulman (collectively "State Defendants"). (Vol. 1, App. 205-218.) On December 16, 2019, the Carson City Sheriff, on behalf of Harris, served Warden Williams and the NDOC by having a

⁴ Harris filed a Notice of Motion to Remove Defendant James Dzurenda on March 16, 2020. (Vol. 1, App. 119-21.)

⁵ Naphcare Inc. appears to be a private entity that has a contract to provide medical services to NDOC and HDSP. (Vol. 1, App. 11-13, 16.)

copy of the summons and Complaint delivered to Nancy Sanders (AAII), an authorized individual at the NDOC, at 5500 East Snyder Avenue Carson City, NV 89701. (Vol 1, App. 220-21.) Further, the NDOC did not accept service on behalf of Defendant Dzurenda as he was a former employee. (Vol. 1, App. 223.)

2. Warden Williams files his Motion to Dismiss and Harris requests to amend his Complaint.

On January 30, 2020, Warden Williams filed a Motion to Dismiss, pursuant

to NRCP 12(b)(5).⁶ Warden Williams argued that Harris's Complaint failed to make any allegations that he personally participated in, or was somehow responsible for, any constitutional violation Harris suffered. (Vol. 1, App 30-37.) Warden Williams argued he could not be liable as a supervisor for a § 1983 claim, and that the Complaint was based on his status as supervisor. (Vol. 1, App. 33-34.) Further, Warden Williams argued that there were no allegations that he knew of Harris's extreme chest pains, or that he took any actions in denying Harris medical attention. (Vol. 1, App. 34.) Finally, Warden Williams argued that he was entitled to qualified immunity as he had not engaged in any constitutional violation, and

⁶ Warden Williams's Motion to Dismiss omitted any arguments that service was improper under NRCP 12(b)(3) or (4). The failure to raise any arguments related to NRCP 12(b)(3) or (4) in the Motion to Dismiss results in a waiver of any claims of improper service. *See* NRCP 12(g)(2), 12(h)(1). Additionally, the Motion to Dismiss filed on January 30, 2020, was brought by Warden Williams and the NDOC. As Harris is not appealing the dismissal of the NDOC, no discussion of the NDOC's arguments are included herein.

the law was not clearly established that his alleged lack of action was sufficient to put him on notice that he had violated Harris's constitutional rights. (Vol. 1, App. 35-36.)

Harris filed his Opposition to Warden Williams's Motion to Dismiss on February 11, 2020. (Vol. 1, App. 42-45.) Harris argued that Warden Williams was aware of his extreme chest pains as he filed a first level grievance detailing his chest pains and that Warden Williams was required to review, investigate, and respond to the first level grievance. (Vol. 1, App. 43.) Because Warden Williams was required to review the first level grievance, he was personally aware of Harris's ongoing medical condition and failed to take any action to protect Harris, thus making him liable for a claim of deliberate indifference under the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. (Vol. 1, App. 43-44.) Additionally, Harris asserted that in the third quarter of 2019, "Warden Williams was in the chapel and this matter was brought to his attention, once it was mentioned about being ready to file in court he cut the conversation and said 'oh that's it! I can't talk to you anymore...," establishing that Warden Williams was aware of his situation. (Vol. 1, App. 43.) Further, Harris argued that the law is clearly established that when a state official knows of and either fails to act or continues the constitutional violation, the official is liable, thus Warden Williams was not entitled to qualified immunity. (Vol. 1, App. 44-45.)

In Harris' s Opposition, he also sought permission to file an amended complaint to add additional facts to his claims and an additional cause of action for retaliation, in violation of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. (Vol. 1, App. 45.) As stated by Harris in his Opposition, he "respectfully request[ed] permission to submit an amended complaint as well, as [he is] incarcerated and used inadequate legal aide. [He] now notice[d] that some facts were not submitted in the first complaint, as well as [he] would like to add the retaliation [he has] been experiencing since filing [his] complaint." (Vo. 1, App. 45.)

Warden Williams filed his Reply, arguing that Harris's Complaint does not make clear any allegations of Warden Williams's personal participation and that "even if the Complaint had alleged Warden Williams responded to the Grievance, that allegation is insufficient to establish personal participation." (Vol. 1, App. 91.) Additionally, Warden Williams argued that the Complaint itself lacked allegations that he was deliberately indifferent, ignoring the allegations in Harris's Opposition to the contrary. (Vol. 1, App. 92.) Finally, Warden Williams argued that he was entitled to qualified immunity as the Complaint supposedly failed to contain sufficient allegations that he was personally involved in any wrongdoing. (Vol. 1, App. 93.) Warden Williams also ignored Harris's request to amend his Complaint. (Vol. 1, App. 88-94.) Arguing instead that, because Harris did not include sufficient facts in his Complaint, he could never include sufficient facts to state a claim against Warden Williams. (Vol. 1, App. 88-94.)

The District Court held a hearing on Warden Williams's Motion on March 3, 2020. (Vol. 2, App. 268.) Warden Willimas' counsel was present at the hearing, while Harris was not present, despite his filing of a Motion Requesting Order to Compel Attendance by Plaintiff via Telephonic Court on February 19, 2020. (Vol. 1, App. 48-51.)

After the hearing, the District Court granted Warden Williams's Motion on May 29, 2020. (Vol. 2, App. 268-74.) The District Court held that Harris's Complaint failed to allege sufficient facts that Warden Williams personally participated in any alleged constitutional violations, that Warden Williams was not on notice of Harris's extreme chest pains via his grievance, and that responding to a grievance is not sufficient to expose Warden Williams to liability. (Vol. 2, App. 271-72.) The District Court also granted Warden Williams qualified immunity, holding that because the Complaint did not contain any allegations that Warden Williams participated in or was on notice of Harris's claims, Harris could not allege any facts to establish Warden Williams's liability. (Vol. 2, App. 273.) The District Court thus dismissed Warden Williams from Harris's suit with prejudice. (Vol. 2, App. 274.) The District Court did not address Harris's request for leave to file an amended complaint. (Vol. 2, App. 268-75.)

3. Harris Moves for Reconsideration, or to Alter or Amend the Judgment Regarding the Dismissal of Warden Williams

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