Case No. 81430

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Sep 15 2021 02:35 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

ANTHONY JOSEPH HARRIS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, et al.,

Respondents.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for the County of Clark
No. A-19-805689-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD Attorney General GREGORY L. ZUNINO Deputy Solicitor General Nevada Bar # 4805 100 N. Carson St. Carson City, Nevada 89701 775-684-1237 gzunino@ag.nv.gov

Attorneys for State Respondents

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

Granted, Harris was not required to prove his case in response to a motion to dismiss. However, his complaint does not indicate that he could prove his claims even if he had the opportunity. More importantly, Harris' complaint does not put any of the named defendants on reasonable notice of the acts or omissions that allegedly subjected Harris to cruel and unusual punishment in violation of his rights under the Eighth Amendment.

As a preliminary matter, it is not readily apparent that Harris had a serious medical need simply because he complained of chest pains. There are many reasons why a person may experience chest pains. It is unknown why Harris experienced chest pains. He alleges only that he suffered from such pains on three occasions between December 2018 and March 2019 but was forced to wait until July 2019 to visit a cardiologist. The story ends there. There are no facts in the complaint from which one could reasonably infer that prison administrators and other named defendants were aware that Harris required immediate medical attention or that they had the means to relieve his alleged pain pending his visit to the cardiologist.

3. PERSONAL PARTICIPATION

In addition to demonstrating deliberate indifference, Harris must ascribe such indifference to an individual, not an institution. He must ascribe deliberate indifference to an individual because 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is the vehicle by which he attempts to vindicate his alleged rights in this case. *See Gonzaga University v. Doe*, 536 U.S. 237, 285 (2002) (stating that section 1983 provides a mechanism for enforcing individual rights secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States). "There are two elements to a section 1983 claim: (1) the conduct complained of must have been under color of state law and (2) the conduct must have subjected the plaintiff to a deprivation of constitutional rights." *Jones v. Cmty, Redevelopment Agency of Los Angeles*, 733 F.2d 646, 649 (9th Cir. 1984).

As a prerequisite to any recovery under section 1983, a plaintiff must prove that individual defendants, as opposed to a state governmental institution, deprived him of a right secured by the U.S. Constitution or the laws of the United States. Gomez v. Whitney, 757 F.2d 1005, 1006 (9th Cir. 1985). Liability under section 1983 arises only upon a showing of personal participation by the defendant. Taylor v. List, 880 F.2d 1040, 1045 (9th Cir. 1989). A person deprives another "of a constitutional right, within the meaning of section 1983, if he [or she] does an affirmative act, participates in another's affirmative acts, or omits to perform an act which he is legally required to do that causes the deprivation of which [the plaintiff complains]." Leer v. Murphy, 844 F.2d 628, 633 (9th Cir. 1988). Consequently, a plaintiff cannot establish a claim under section 1983 by making a loose connection between an alleged institutional failure and individual defendants who could conceivably be held vicariously liable for a common law tort. See Iqbal, 566 U.S. at 676. ("[O]ne must plead that each Government-official defendant, through his own individual actions, has violated the Constitution."). Here, Harris does not allege facts from which one could reasonably infer that prison administrators and other named defendants knew that Harris required immediate medical attention and consciously failed to act. At best, Harris has alleged facts from which one could infer that some prison administrators may have known that he complained of chest pains at some point in the past. Quite reasonably, prison administrators and/or

medical professionals arranged for Harris to visit a cardiologist in July of 2019.

Anyone who has ever visited a medical specialist will recognize that Harris' wait time was not unusual.

4. NEVADA'S NOTICE PLEADING STANDARD

Rule 8(a) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure requires a plaintiff to set forth the facts that fit within a theory of liability, but it does not require that the theory be correctly identified. *Liston v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 111 Nev. 1575, 1578, 908 P.2d 720, 723 (1995) (citation omitted). A plaintiff who fails to use "precise legalese" in describing his grievance, but who sets forth the facts which support his complaint satisfies Nevada's notice pleading requirement. *Id.* When reviewing whether a plaintiff has sufficiently set forth facts to assert a claim for relief, the court must accept all factual allegations of the complaint as true and draw every reasonable inference in the plaintiff's favor. *Alcantara ex rel. Alcantara v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 130 Nev. 252, 256, 321 P.3d 912, 914 (2014) (citation omitted).

Rule 12(b)(5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure permits a defendant to move for the dismissal of a claim if the pleading fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim should be granted when "it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.* (quoting Buzz Stew,

L.L.C. v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008)). The allegations of a complaint are insufficient to assert a claim for relief when the allegations fail to give fair notice of the nature and basis of a legally sufficient claim and the relief requested. See Vacation Village Inc. v. Hitachi America, Ltd., 110 Nev. 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994) (citation omitted). Here, Harris' factual allegations do not give fair notice of the basis of a legally sufficient claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

B. LEGAL ANALYSIS

1. HARRIS' COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE AN ASCERTAINABLE CLAIM FOR DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE TO A SERIOUS MEDICAL NEED.

The District Court correctly dismissed Harris' claims against Warden Brian Williams. 2 ROA 268–74. Williams is a prison administrator. Harris alleges he made a grievance that Harris was required by administrative regulation to review and/or investigate. Br. at 7–8. Presumably, this grievance put Williams on notice that Harris' had allegedly complained of chest pains to prison medical staff. Harris' complaint, however, does not put Williams on notice of the factual basis for Harris' claim that Williams subjected Harris to cruel and unusual punishment.

As a preliminary matter, Harris' complaint does not put Williams on notice that Harris had a serious medical need at any point between December 2018, when Harris allegedly had his first episode of chest pains, and July 2019, when Harris met with a cardiologist. Whether an inmate has been subjected to cruel and unusual

punishment involves an objective test and a subjective test. In short, the relevant inquiry includes "both an objective standard—that the deprivation was serious enough to constitute cruel and unusual punishment—and a subjective standard—deliberate indifference." *Colwell*, 763 F.3d at 1066 (citation and internal quotation omitted).

"To meet the objective element of the standard, a plaintiff must demonstrate the existence of a serious medical need." *Ibid.* "Moreover, a delay in medical care only constitutes an Eighth Amendment violation where the plaintiff can show the delay resulted in substantial harm." *Mata v. Saiz*, 427 F.3d 745, 751 (10th Cir. 2005) (citation and quotation omitted). For purposes of notice pleading, an objective reference to a serious medical need might involve a brief description of a physical injury or condition such as a traumatic head wound, verifiable loss of consciousness, or a stab wound. *See, e.g., Scalia v. County of Kern,* 358 F. Supp.3d 1064, 1076 (E.D. Cal. 2018); *Phillips v. Roane Cnty., Tenn.*, 534 F.3d 531, 540 (6th Cir. 2008); *Wright v. Sprayberry*, 817 Fed.Appx. 725, 730 (11th Cir. 2020).

As discussed above, Harris alleges only that he experienced chest pains. Other than his alleged chest pains, Harris reports no symptoms of cardiac distress: no shortness of breath, no swelling, no numbness, no fatigue, no fainting, no dizziness, no nausea, no clammy skin, no profuse sweating, and no tingling sensations in the arms or legs. Harris says nothing about the outcome of his visits to

a cardiologist, and he does not suggest that prison officials could or should have done something to relieve his pain prior to his first visit to the cardiologist. The gist of Harris' lawsuit is that he must be compensated because prison officials were inattentive to his *complaints* about chest pains, not that they were inattentive to his serious medical need. The District Court properly dismissed Harris' claims against Warden Williams. It was appropriate for the District Court to dismiss those claims with prejudice because Harris at no point indicated that he was prepared to offer additional facts to make a direct connection between Warden Williams and Harris' alleged constitutional injury.

Given the absence of factual detail in Harris' complaint, it is difficult to conclude that Harris ever suffered from a serious medical condition. And more importantly, with respect to the subjective standard, it is virtually impossible to conclude that prison administrators knew Harris suffered from a serious medical condition requiring immediate medical attention. Liberally construed, Harris' complaint might put someone on notice that Harris is angry or frustrated with prison administrators because of their inattention to his complaints about chest pains. But it certainly does not put anyone on notice, much less prison administrators, of the facts upon which Harris bases his claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The District Court

properly dismissed Harris' claims against Williams on the ground that Harris failed to state a cognizable claim against Williams.³

2. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO REMEDY HARRIS' PROCEDURAL MISTAKES.

Perhaps the District Court could have allowed Harris more time to serve his complaint in the manner required by NRCP 4.2(d)(2). Indeed, there is no reason to believe that a plaintiff's failure to timely file a motion to enlarge Rule 4(e)'s 120-day service period creates a jurisdictional bar to further proceedings. *See, e.g., Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 126 Nev. 592, 598, 245 P.2d 1198, 1202 (2010) (recognizing that a plaintiff may, upon a showing of good cause, be relieved of the obligation to timely file a motion for enlargement). Further, NRCP 4.2(d)(6) specifically directs the trial courts to enlarge the time for effectuating dual service pursuant NRCP 4.2(d)(2) when circumstances warrant an enlargement. The plain text of NRCP 4.2(d)(6) makes it clear that the "dual service requirement" is intended

³ The District Court dismissed Harris' complaint on various grounds, including on grounds of qualified immunity. 2 ROA 272–73. Qualified immunity must be raised as an affirmative defense. *See Gomez v. Toledo*, 446 U.S. 635, 640 (1980). It was premature for the District Court to address qualified immunity within the context of a motion to dismiss. In other words, a plaintiff has no burden to plead facts that negate qualified immunity. *See id.* As a practical matter, however, the deliberate indifference standard incorporates principles of qualified immunity. If a plaintiff cannot plead facts demonstrating an ability to meet the deliberate indifference standard, the action will necessarily fail under the qualified immunity doctrine.

to protect the State's taxpayers against default judgments; it is not intended to be used by the State's attorneys as a sword against *pro per* litigants.⁴

However, this does not mean that the District Court should have allowed Harris more time to serve his complaint. Harris did not timely request an extension of the time for serving his complaint. Further, as it pertains to the named defendants other than Warden Brian Williams, Harris' complaint fails for the same reasons that it fails in relation to Warden Williams. Harris complaint' fails to state a cause of action against any of the named defendants. Had Harris timely moved for an extension of the 120-day service period, he would have simply delayed the inevitable dismissal of his claims on substantive grounds.

Harris does not allege facts from which any of the named defendants could reasonably infer that Harris had a serious medical need at any time during the period described in the complaint. And Harris makes no factual connections between the named defendants and his alleged constitutional injury. Even if he were given an opportunity to amend his complaint, it is probable that Harris could not plead facts to satisfy the objective test for establishing his claims. And it is a virtual certainty

⁴ The same can be said of the dual service requirement set forth at NRS 41.031(2). This Court's recent decision indicates that NRS 41.031(2) does not apply to actions filed against state employees in their individual capacities. *See Craig v. Donnelly*, 135 Nev. 37, 439 P.3d 413 (2019). However, the 2019 amendments to NRCP explicitly expanded the dual service requirement to encompass actions filed against current and former state employees in their individual capacities. *See* NRCP 4.2(d)(2).

that he could not plead facts to meet the subjective test for establishing his claims. Simply stated, Harris bases his claims against the named defendants on a theory of vicarious liability. Such a theory of liability is not cognizable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Therefore, allowing Harris to proceed with additional attempts at service, followed by leave to amend his complaint, would have been futile. "[L]eave to amend should not be granted if the proposed amendment would be futile." *Halcrow, Inc. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. 394, 398, 302 P.3d 1148, 1152 (2013) (quoting *Allum v. Valley Bank of Nev.*, 109 Nev. 280, 287, 849 P.2d 297, 302 (1993)). The District Court appropriately terminated further trial court proceedings in this case. There was no abuse of discretion.

3. HARRIS HAS WAIVED ANY CLAIM THAT HE MAY HAVE HAD AGAINST JANE DOE DEFENDANTS.

In fairness, Harris has arguably stated cognizable claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Jane Doe defendants. While it is highly unlikely that he could prove his claims at trial, the factual allegations in his complaint are sufficiently detailed to put a person on notice of the reasons why he is suing Jane Doe defendants. In this regard, Harris alleges that when he complained to Jane Doe defendants about his chest pains, they ignored him. Given Harris' failure to disclose other relevant details about his alleged cardiac distress, his allegations against Jane Doe defendants do not ring true. Nonetheless, Harris would have been entitled to pursue his claims against

Jane Doe defendants had he exercised reasonable diligence to discover their identities.

For example, Harris could have sought an extension of time to identify and serve Jane Doe defendants. Better yet, he could have investigated their identities before he filed his lawsuit. He could have used the prison grievance system to obtain information about them. He could have conducted some minimal discovery before he served his complaint upon twenty-two individual defendants with no connection to his alleged constitutional injury.

Indeed, there are many things that Harris could have done to identify Jane Doe defendants before the District Court dismissed the remainder of Harris' claims in July 2020. Generally, a plaintiff must exercise reasonable diligence in ascertaining the identity of a defendant or potentially lose the claim against that defendant to the statute of limitations. *See, e.g., Sparks v. Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 287, 294–95, 255 P.3d 238, 243–44 (2011). But Harris did nothing to identify Jane Doe defendants between late December 2018 and July 2020. And now, on appeal, he says nothing about the merits of his complaint as it pertains to Jane Doe defendants. Accordingly, Harris has waived any claim that he may have had against Jane Doe defendants. *See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n. 3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n. 3 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived.").

VI. CONCLUSION

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